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The friend who makes you feel welcomed and
encouraged even when you are not at your best.
The friend who believes that the best gift in life is a
second chance.

		 Charity Golf & Dinner

		 Employer Feature

“You’ve got a friend” epitomises our devotion to
extend friendship to our members and beneficiaries,
showing support at both professional and personal
levels. Nothing brings us greater joy and satisfaction
than to see our members succeed in society and
in turn become friends to other ex-offenders going
through the same journey.
We hope to be a genuine friend.

		 Project ReConnect

		 Volunteer Feature

A friend in need
is a friend indeed.

Bursary Awards Ceremony
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Programmes &
Services

VISION

Enabling ex-offenders to achieve sustainable careers, build
cohesive families, and lead positive lives.

MISSION

To promote self-esteem and economic independence in exoffenders while guiding them towards good citizenship and good
value systems.

VALUES

Caring for

Ex-Offenders

Caring for

DependEnts

Flexibility
We strive to provide programmes and services that are relevant to
the beneficiaries, based on individual needs.

Integrity
We strive to always do the right thing. It is important to set a
positive example by exhibiting the value of integrity in our work
and the way we serve our stakeholders.

SUPPORT &
GUIDANCE

TRAINING &
EMPLOYMENT

CHILDREN &
FAMILY

• Referral & Connect
• Support Group

• Job Placement
• Skills Assistance
Subsidy Scheme
(SASS)

Fairy Godparent
Programme (FGP)
• Family Support
• Student Development
• Home Environment

Respect
We strive to treat our members and beneficiaries with respect.
We must also show respect to our partners, donors and
volunteers, as it is through mutual respect that we could work
together to help improve the lives of our beneficiaries.

Empathy
We aim to be able to understand and share the feelings of our
beneficiaries and fellow colleagues, towards creating a more
humane and caring environment.

MEMBER
SERVICES
• Gift of Hope
• Project ReConnect
• Titan Programme

4 | ISCOS Chairman’s Message

ISCOS CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE
2017 has been a fruitful year for ISCOS. We have rolled out new initiatives, expanded our outreach and
improved our processes to better serve the needs of our members and beneficiaries.

Offering Better Programmes and Services

This year we successfully launched Project ReConnect, a structured orientation programme for newly
released ex-offenders to help familiarise them with the fast-changing landscape and technology in
Singapore. As of 31 December 2017, over 190 ex-offenders have benefited from this new initiative
and many gave positive feedback on how the full-day programme helped them in the initial days after
release. You can read more about what we have achieved through Project ReConnect in the special
feature on page 22.
Backed by the generous contribution by Tan Ean Kiam Foundation, we launched the Tan Ean KiamYellow Ribbon Fund-ISCOS Bursary Award this year to support eligible youths in pursuit of their tertiary
education at local polytechnics and ITEs. Starting July 2017, we were also privileged to be appointed
as one of the disbursing agencies for the Straits Times School Pocket Money Fund (STSPMF), a
special fund that provides children and youth from low-income families with monthly school pocket
money. With the new award, and STSPMF appointment, we hope that more children of ex-offenders,
including those under the Fairy Godparent Programme, would be able to excel academically to realise
their full potential.
All these new developments complement the existing programmes and services of ISCOS, as they
are tailored to bridge the gaps amid the varying needs of ex-offenders and their families, especially
the children.

Engaging Key Stakeholders and Public

In March 2017, we had a special “Visit the Prison with ISCOS” event as part of the continuous
engagement with our current and potential supporters. The exclusive visit was designed to offer
attendees an insightful look into the lives behind bars, plus an overview of the rehabilitation and
reintegration efforts by the Singapore Prison Service, SCORE and ISCOS.
Thanks to the support from like-minded corporations and individuals, the Charity Golf and Dinner
event held on 3 November 2017 was also a resounding success. The event raised over $230,000 for
the Fairy Godparent Programme (see highlights on page 23). As a gesture of heartfelt thanks, the
ISCOS Appreciation Dinner took place on 10 November 2017 to recognise the contributions from our
corporate partners and volunteers during the year. It was an enjoyable evening with many touched by
the sharing and performances by our beneficiaries.
In term of generating awareness, we were happy to see new ISCOS initiatives and encouraging stories
of our beneficiaries featured in different media and publications throughout the year. We sincerely
hope that this coverage will translate into greater support for our social cause, and eventually, help
our beneficiaries regain their footing in society.

Strengthening Governance

For improved accountability and control, we completed the initial round of internal audit and
implemented an annual governance evaluation process in accordance with the Code of Governance
for Co-operatives and the Charity Council checklist. During the year, we also took the effort to clean
up, update and maintain the membership database so that we may focus our resources on engaging
members who are active and require assistance.
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Thanking All Stakeholders

We would not be able to achieve much if not for the unwavering support from our sponsors, namely Lee
Foundation, Tan Ean Kiam Foundation, NETS, Goldbell Foundation, Baker & McKenzie. Wong & Leow
and other corporate donors who have contributed in multiple ways. We also remember the sacrifices
made by volunteers who spent time and effort to ensure the success of our initiatives. Thank you all
for believing in our social cause.
I would also like to take the opportunity to thank the ISCOS Board of Trustees for their guidance,
and appreciate my fellow Directors for their trust and full support. In particular, I am grateful for Mr
Wong Heng Tew who recently completed his term in 2017. Mr Wong had been serving on the Board of
Directors since 2008 and was appointed as the Honorary Treasurer from 2011 to 2017.

Gearing Up for the Big 3-0

Looking ahead, we are very excited to celebrate ISCOS’ 30 years of existence in 2019! Plans are already
underway for a series of year-long celebratory initiatives leading up to the anniversary, which we hope
to be a time of purposeful reflection and forward-thinking.
While reminiscing about the historical milestones that transformed ISCOS into the organisation it is
today, the celebration would certainly fuel the vision for what lies ahead. We are upbeat about the
impending changes, no matter big or small, that would propel ISCOS to the next phase of growth and
relevance while staying grounded in our belief in second chances. To all our supporters who have been
friends of ISCOS all this while, we welcome you to continue your journey with us and be part of this new
exciting chapter.
Thank you.

DANIEL TEO

Chairman
ISCOS Board of Directors
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Commissioner of prisons’ message

SCORE Chairman’s message

Reducing reoffending requires a multi-faceted approach involving not just the offenders and
the Prison Service, but other non-governmental organisations, the community and the families of offenders as well. The Singapore Prison Service (SPS) is privileged to partner ISCOS in
our offenders’ rehabilitation and reintegration journey.

Staying true to our mandate of over four decades,
SCORE has been actively supporting ex-offenders
on various fronts. In line with our belief that enhancing the employability potential of ex-offenders, we
have rolled out various programmes and schemes
throughout the years that produced encouraging
results where we see lives of ex-offenders greatly
improved and impacted.

Established as a Co-operative for ex-offenders in 1989, ISCOS’s programmes and services
have expanded over the years, providing valuable support for offenders and making their
reintegration a smoother one. Most notably, ISCOS’s Project ReConnect has helped ease the
reintegration of ex-offenders who have served long terms of imprisonment. The project has
helped them to adapt to the latest technological and landscape changes through sharing of
essential knowledge for daily living in a fast-changing society. ISCOS has also been on the
forefront of preventing intergenerational offending. At ISCOS’ Annual Bursary Awards Ceremony, bursaries are disbursed to the children of offenders from low-income background,
giving them access and opportunities to gain a firmer foothold in life.
ISCOS’ dedication towards supporting offenders and their families is highly commendable.
We look forward to an even closer partnership with ISCOS in the years ahead.

DESMOND CHIN

Commissioner Of Prisons
Singapore Prison Service

We are grateful to have aftercare agencies such
as ISCOS who has always been with us along this
journey, sharing similar beliefs. This year, we bore
witness to how ISCOS has substantially enhanced
its capability and capacity to help ex-offenders by
joining hands with Workforce Singapore (WSG) and
SCORE under the Differentiated Employment Assistance agreement. The job placement scheme is
designed to offer ex-offenders wider career choices
and quality opportunities so that they are able to
support themselves and their families via gainful
employment. This collective effort is further amplified by ISCOS’s own Skills Assistance Subsidy
Scheme (SASS), which provides training subsidies
to those who are interested in upgrading their skill
sets and enhancing their job prospects.
In addition to supporting ex-offenders, ISCOS has
also deepened its efficacy of the flagship Fairy Godparent Programme (FGP) in levelling the playing
field for children of ex-offenders through different
initiatives such as sponsored tuition, mentoring,
workshops, bursary awards, educational outings
and other socially engaging activities. Keep up the
good work!
As the Secretariat of the CARE Network (CN), we
also recently conceptualised CapitaLand-YRF Children Support Programme, a two-year pilot.
The programme involves multiple agencies from
the CARE Network, Grassroots Organisations and
Family Service Centres to provide a holistic sys-

tem-level intervention to children of ex-offenders
from 3 to 12 years old. By participating in this pilot
programme, ISCOS’ FGP has broaden its reach to
benefit more children facing similar hardships and
challenges, so that they may excel in their lives despite all odds.
I would like to take this opportunity to thank the
ISCOS team led by its Chairman, Mr Daniel Teo for
being a valuable partner of SCORE over the years.
Together with his directors and staff, they have been
instrumental in enhancing the aftercare ecosystem
and advocating the spirit of second chances.
As SCORE continues to rebuild the lives of ex-offenders by helping them enhance their employability potential, we look forward to more fruitful collaborations with ISCOS to achieve our vision of building
bridges of hope for offenders and their families, as
well as creating a safer, more compassionate society in Singapore.

CHNG HWEE HONG

Chairman
Singapore Corporation of Rehabilitative Enterprises
(SCORE)
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Executive Director’s message
2017 saw the launch of several major initiatives to
reach out to our members and beneficiaries.

such as the ISCOS Bursary Awards and Book Grants
to reward good academic progress.

We welcomed over 1,000 new ISCOS members
with our ‘Gift of Hope’ package, which seeks to help
tide them over for the first few days after their release. In addition to the existing basic necessities,
we collaborated with a new partner, Essilor Vision
Foundation (ASEAN), to provide sunglasses for the
Gift of Hope packs.

We are pleased to have presented the Tan Ean Kiam
Bursary Awards to the inaugural batch of four beneficiaries, and hope that the sponsorship would go
a long way towards funding their tertiary education.
We have also started a new support group for fathers in July as we believe in the power of effective
caregiving in uniting a family. In addition, we are
looking forward to kick-start a new Youth Support
platform that would offer an avenue for the FGP
youths to seek emotional support together with
practical guidance.

2017 also saw the successful launch of Project ReConnect, a structured orientation programme for
ex-offenders who had spent three or more years in
prison. The programme’s objective is to ease their
re-adjustment into the community in the wake of
Singapore’s rapidly-changing social landscape. In
addition, we also piloted our very first session of
Project ReUnite in December 2017, which aimed to
facilitate the much-needed reconciliation between
ex-offenders and their immediate family members.
Critical to the reintegration journey is for ex-offenders to be financially stable with a means of sustainable income. Based on this belief, ISCOS stays
committed to providing career guidance, joining
hands with prospective employers to arrange for
job placement with suitable candidates. Also, to
better help members adapt to a changing economy
and job market, the ISCOS Skills Assistance Subsidy Scheme (SASS), in its seventh year, continues to
enable members to upgrade their skills set through
training subsidies for relevant courses and certifications.
Ex-offenders are also motivated to persevere and
stay the course when they are encouraged and
nurtured by a strong support system. In 2017, the
Men’s Support Group continued strong with an attendance of close to 400 over 57 sessions. This is
the fruition of our joint efforts with external partners
to conduct satellite support groups all around Singapore, which significantly expanded our reach.
Working to prevent inter-generational offending
remains a cause of utmost importance to ISCOS
through our ongoing flagship programme, the
Yellow Ribbon Fund-ISCOS Fairy Godparent Programme (FGP). Dedicated to aiding the children of
current and ex-offenders, we held activities such as
the ISCOS Family Day and other enrichment programmes to strengthen family ties between beneficiaries and their relations. There were also initiatives

The facilitation of many of our programmes would
not be possible without the help of our ISCOS volunteers. In 2017, we had about 98 volunteers clocking
a total of 1,216 hours by taking up different roles to
support various ISCOS initiatives. We would like to
thank our volunteers for selflessly giving their time
and effort, and more importantly, extending their
friendship and support to our beneficiaries.
In conclusion, 2017 was an exciting and enriching
year for us at ISCOS. In the year ahead, we wish to
tap into technology to reach out to members, as
well as to enhance our existing programmes and
services to make them more relevant and effective
for our beneficiaries. We look forward to another fulfilling and engaging year in 2018.

LISA LIM

Executive Director

1

NEW MESSAGE

My best friend
is the one who
brings out the
best in me.
-Henry Ford
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ISCOS Board of Trustees

Board members
& Staff

From left to right: Mr Azman Hisham Bin Ja’afar #Member, Mr Ramchand Jagtiani #Member,
Mr Chng Hwee Hong #Chairman, Mr Goh Liang Kwang #Member, Mr Vernon Khoo #Member
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ISCOS Board of DIRECTORS

From left to right: Mr Sujimy Mohamad #Member, Mr Yeo Tiong Eng #Member, Ms Shie Yong Lee
#Member, Ms Staphnie Tang #Member, Mr Daniel Teo #Chairman, Mr Alex Yeo #Member,
Ms Joy Tan #Vice Chairman
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ISCOS Board of DIRECTORS

From left to right: Ms Shirlyn Ng #Member, Mr Stanley Tang #Member, Ms Tan Poh Hong #Honorary
Secretary, Dr Natarajan Varaprasad #Member, Mr Wong Heng Tew #Honorary Treasurer #Service
until 31 May 2017, Mr Mike Hue #Honorary Treasurer #With Effect from 1 June 2017
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ISCOS MANAGEMENT

From left to right: Ms Looi Jo-Anne #Manager, Comms & External Relations, Mr Elvis Overee #Deputy Director, Ms Rathika
Kanisha #Assistant Manager, Corporate Services, Ms Lisa Lim #Executive Director, Mr Muhammad Ali Bin Md Yusoff
#Manager, Programmes & Services

ISCOS STAFF

EVENTS of

2017

From left to right (Back row): Mr Nicholas Chan #Social Service Executive, Mr Brian Kang #Social Service Executive, Mr
Kamiso Bin Yahman #Admin Assistant, Ms Vanessa Lim #Social Service Executive, Ms Erma Afiza Binte Mohd Sam
#Social Service Executive, Mr Benjamin Lee #Senior Executive, Finance, Mr Alfred Lau #Senior Social Service Executive,
Ms Tang Wai Wah #Social Service Executive
From left to right (Front row): Mr Ravan Kumar #Social Service Executive, Ms Chua Siew Luan #Senior Executive, Finance,
Ms Esther Lee #Executive, Comms & External Relations, Ms Nurrizawani Binte Sawy #Executive Assistant, Corporate
Services, Mr Mohamed Rudy Abdul Hamid #Social Service Executive
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Events of 2017

Visit the Prison with ISCOS!

ISCOS Volunteer Orientation
ISCOS kicked off 2017 by conducting the first of three
introductory sessions for incoming volunteers on 14 January
2017. The new volunteers were introduced to the Programmes
and Services offered by ISCOS, as well as the different volunteer
roles and opportunities that are available.
During the session, our facilitator fielded various questions on
how one could become an ISCOS mentor, support group cofacilitator or to take up other volunteer roles or opportunities.
It was indeed heartening to witness the enthusiasm and
positivity among the participants, with many of them eager to
begin volunteering as soon as possible.

JANUARY

As part of the continuous engagement with our friends and
supporters, ISCOS organised the inaugural “Visit the Prison
with ISCOS” event on 28 March 2017 to offer an insightful
experience to the lives behind bars, as well as to provide
an overview of the rehabilitation and reintegration efforts by
the Singapore Prison Service (SPS), Singapore Corporation
of Rehabilitative Enterprises (SCORE) and ISCOS.

ISCOS 27th Annual General Meeting

ISCOS Fireside Chat

The 27th Annual General Meeting was held on 22 May
2017 at the Singapore Anti-Narcotics Association (SANA)
auditorium. During the meeting, the accomplishments of
2016 as well as future plans to further support our members
and beneficiaries were shared with members in attendance.

Held every six months, the first of two ISCOS Fireside Chats
took place on 22 June 2017. A fruitful discussion on having
positive communities and parent support systems was
facilitated, with members also sharing very useful feedback
that would contribute towards improving the programmes
and services offered.

The visitors were first entertained by the inmates’ human
percussion and skit performances as a prelude to the tour.
They were then guided to visit the housing unit, prison
cells, Visual Arts Hub (art workshops) and Art Gallery
showcasing amazing works of art produced by inmates.
Through this exclusive experience, many commented
that they could now better relate to the challenges faced
by ex-offenders and the social cause of helping them
reintegrate into society, so that they can lead meaningful
and productive lives after their release.

FEBRUARY

MARCH

JULY
JUNE
Y
MA

APRIL

ISCOS Mentors’ Training

Appointment as disbursing
agency for STSPMF

The first of two sessions were conducted for ISCOS
volunteer mentors in February to better understand how to
mentor the children and youth under the Fairy Godparent
Programme (FGP). Held at the ISCOS training room, a total
of 29 volunteer mentors attended the Mentors’ Training
programme. Facilitated by Trybe, the mentors were equipped
with knowledge and competencies for their role. Engaging
case studies and role play sessions were also conducted for
all participants.

ISCOS Welcomes New Executive Director
On 28 February 2017, ISCOS bade farewell to Mr Patrick
Ng, a senior prison officer who had served the co-operative
as Executive Director for more than three years. Mr Ng has
since returned to the Singapore Prison Service.
With effect from 1 March 2017, Madam Lisa Lim joined ISCOS
as the new Executive Director. As the former Superintendent
of Institution A5 at the Singapore Prison Service, Madam
Lim facilitated rehabilitation programmes for inmates and
actively engaged the prison volunteers through regular
dialogues. She was also involved in engaging the volunteers
from South-West District for the Yellow Ribbon Community
Project (YRCP).

ISCOS Mini Job Fair
On 28 April 2017, ISCOS organised a Mini Job Fair to assist our members in finding
a suitable job or better employment. The fair also sought to offer an additional
source of income for those who are currently employed. We are grateful for the
support of employers such as Popeye’s, JQ Manpower Solutions and Hamny Pte
Ltd for participating in the event; offering various types of work positions to our
members.
Approximately 35 ISCOS members attended with their families and friends. During
the four-hour event, members made enquiries and underwent interviews by the
companies, with some even offered the job on the spot. To provide a wholesome
experience, our staff were also there throughout the job fair to help with all the
enquiries and provide interview tips to the applicants.

Starting on 1 July 2017, ISCOS
became one of the disbursing
agencies for The Straits Times
School
Pocket
Money
Fund
(STSPMF), a community project
initiated by The Straits Times since
2000 to provide pocket money to
children from low-income families
to help them through school.
The STSPMF has disbursed more
than $55 million since its inception
and helped over 150,000 cases of
children and youth by providing
them with monthly school pocket
money.
With this appointment, we hope
that more children of ex-offenders
from low-income families, including
those under the Fairy Godparent
Programme (FGP) can apply
through ISCOS and benefit from the
generous Fund.
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LEAP with Goldbell
ISCOS Family Day
Themed “Adventurer@The Park”,
the ISCOS Family Day 2017 held
at ORTO engaged close to 300
parents, children and family
members to spend a good time
of family bonding in a lighthearted manner. The fun event
was graced by Mr Louis Ng Kok
Kwang, Member of Parliament,
Nee Soon GRC as the Guest of
Honour. Apart from the various
team-building activities and
games, the participants were
also treated with good food and
lucky draw prizes.
ISCOS would like to thank
volunteers from organisations
such as Goldbell and Baker &
McKenzie.Wong & Leow for
facilitating the event.

WSQ Training Course Briefing for
ISCOS Members
On 3 August 2017, a briefing was specially
arranged for ISCOS members to find out
more about the Professional Diploma
courses under the Workforce Skills
Qualifications (WSQ) framework. Members
were briefed about the Professional Diploma
in Leadership and People Management
(WSQ Level 4) and its various modules such
as innovations, capability development and
others. By tapping government funding and
training subsidies under the ISCOS’ Skills
Assistance Subsidy Scheme (SASS), eligible
members may apply for the course for as low
as $50. The response was overwhelming,
with 30 members signing up on the day itself.

We are grateful to have volunteers
from Goldbell with us over two
Saturdays (7 and 14 October 2017)
to help spruce up two houses with
a fresh coat of paint and new
study corners. Because of the
support by 23 Goldbell volunteers,
the beneficiaries now have a neat
and comfortable place they can
call home.
The
Learning
Environment
Assistance Project (LEAP) is
an initiative under ISCOS’ Fairy
Godparent Programme (FGP)
that supports children who do
not have a conducive home
study area. Goldbell is the proud
sponsor of all LEAP initiatives
in 2017, and its employees have
been actively volunteering for
different ISCOS events since 2015,
including Family Day and LEAP.

ISCOS Appreciation Dinner

Launch of Project ReUnite

It was indeed heart-warming to gather with our partners, donors and
volunteers to honour their support, as well as to celebrate how far our
beneficiaries have come at the ISCOS Appreciation Dinner on 10 November
2017 at Grand Copthorne Waterfront Hotel. While enjoying the sumptuous
dinner, attendees were greatly moved by the sharing and performances by
our beneficiaries.

ISCOS piloted its very first session of Project
ReUnite, a brand new initiative to help bring
about the much-needed reconciliation
between inmates and their immediate family
members through a special ‘Welcome Home’
programme on their day of release.

This year, we have chosen the theme of ‘HOPE’, as it is a powerful notion
which perfectly encapsulates what we believe and what we aim to be —
the beacon of hope to our members, their children and families as they
find their way back to society.

On 16 December 2017, we waited with the
family of Mr Azman (not his real name) at the
prison gate for his release. Emotions were
running high as he embraced his wife and
two young children, all eager to welcome him
back to the family. We brought the family for a
good ‘makan’ feast at Changi Village. Later the
group headed to the ISCOS office for a brief,
yet practical, session where we helped to offer
practical advice to kick start his reintegration
journey. We also offered some words of
encouragement for the family to begin this new
chapter with hope and love for one another.

NOVEMBER
JULY

AUGUST

SEPTEMBER

OCTOBER
Training of ISCOS Titans

Launch of Father
Support Group

Tri-Event Workshops for Parents,
Children and Youth

Recognising
that
family
support is one of the crucial
steps towards successful
reintegration, ISCOS believes
that parenting plays a huge
part in creating happy families.
Fathers have a vital role to
play in nurturing their children,
which is why ISCOS started the
Fathers’ Support Group this
year. These monthly sessions
have proved to be useful as a
platform for members to share
parenting tips and encourage
each other in becoming better
fathers.

On 9 September 2017, 26 families under the
Fairy Godparent Programme attended our
third Tri-Event workshop, one of a series of
theme-based family workshops throughout the
year. The previous two sessions were held in
February and May respectively.
Supported by 14 volunteers from PayPal,
participants in the various workshops for
parents, youth and children found the skills
taught to them to be very relevant and pertinent.
In particular, parents learnt new ways of
nurturing healthy relationships while the youth
were inspired to attain their dreams through the
sharing of experiences and aspirations.
Towards the end of the event, families came
together to create their own family terrarium
to take home. The participants enjoyed it very
much and expressed their enthusiasm for
similar bonding activities in the future.

DECEMBER

On 2 December 2017, some of our ISCOS
Titans came together to learn useful tips about
public speaking. Facilitated by our volunteer
Jessica Dang from Soundway Learning Group,
the Titans enjoyed learning the skills needed
to share their stories more confidently and
purposefully.
The ISCOS Titans (formerly known as
Motivators) initiative is a special programme
dedicated to our members who have
successfully reintegrated and would like to
give back to society through multiple avenues,
such as peer facilitation of support groups
and sharing of life experiences to schools and
youth at-risk.

ISCOS Bursary Award
Ceremony
On 22 December 2017, ISCOS
celebrated the academic
achievements of 133 students
by rewarding them for their
hard work and perseverance
at its annual Bursary Award
Ceremony. With Mr Amrin
Amin as the Guest of Honour,
the recipients received their
awards onstage amid applause from their families at the MDIS Auditorium
at Stirling Road.
A major initiative by ISCOS and the Lee Foundation under the Fairy
Godparent Programme, children of current and ex-offenders from lowincome families who have achieved commendable results are awarded
bursaries ranging from $200 to $500 each, according to their education
levels. Book grants were also given to students who have shown good
progress in their studies.
ISCOS also recognised and presented certificates to the maiden batch of
recipients of the Tan Ean Kiam-YRF-ISCOS Bursary Award (“TEK Award”),
a newly launched initiative in 2017. Fully sponsored by the Tan Ean Kiam
Foundation, eligible beneficiaries who received offers by local polytechnics
and ITE but lack the financial resources to further their studies may apply
for the TEK Award.
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Media Coverage

Print Media

Digital Media
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Project ReConnect

Teeing Off for a Good Cause

Charity Golf
& Dinner

For many ex-offenders, especially those
serving long prison sentences, the first three
to six months are critical to their successful
reintegration to society. However, their progress is often impeded as they have been
away from society for a long time, and as
such, often feel isolated and out of touch.
To make the process of re-adjustment less
daunting, ISCOS launched a structured orientation programme in 2017 for ex-offenders who have spent three years or longer in
prison. Aptly titled Project ReConnect, the
programme aims to ease the reintegration
journey by imparting knowledge and life
skills essential for daily living, helping them
to be familiarised with the rapidly-changing
landscape and trends in Singapore.
Held once a week every Tuesday, it is a oneday affair. The session begins with a simple
briefing on important matters including
employment, housing and medical matters. After the briefing and lunch, the participants go on a community tour to places
such as MRT stations, community centres
and grocery stores, among others.

The project was fully sponsored by Goldbell
Foundation in 2017 (henceforth Goldbell), a
partner who has been supporting ISCOS on
various fronts. During selected sessions of
the Project ReConnect tour, the participants
were also brought to Goldbell’s work site to
witness first-hand the working conditions
and job opportunities available at Goldbell.
We thank Goldbell for their generosity and
outreach efforts in kick-starting this initiative.
As of 31 December 2017, ISCOS has conducted 33 sessions involving 192 participants. The feedback received was generally
positive. These important sessions helped
participants cope with the changing elements in Singapore society, such as infrastructure, technology and services. We are
heartened that such an initiative has been
effective in giving former offenders the
confidence and courage to take their first
steps towards re-building their lives and
starting afresh.

On 3 November 2017, ISCOS held a Charity
Golf and Dinner event at Orchid Country Club
to raise funds for the Fairy Godparent Programme (FGP), ISCOS’ flagship programme
dedicated to support children of current and
former offenders from low income families.
With everyone in high spirits, the golf event
commenced at 1.15 p.m. sharp with the
official tee-off by the Guest of Honour, Mr
Lim Swee Say, Minister for Manpower. After
the game, the golfers and donors enjoyed a
splendid dinner at the Sapphire Suite with a
variety of programme items, including the
prize presentation and lucky draw. There was
also a charity auction and raffle draw segments, which were generously supported by
those who were in attendance.
The event raised a total gross proceeds of
over $230,000. This generous amount would
go a long way towards the various FGP initiatives such as the ISCOS Bursary Awards and
book grants, sponsored tuition, mentoring,
Family Day and other activities beneficial to
the children and families.
On behalf of our beneficiaries, we sincerely thank everyone who have contributed to
this event in every way and made it a great
success! This would not have been possible
without you, and we are grateful for your kind
and giving support.
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NEW MESSAGE

Friends show
their love in times
of trouble, not in
happiness.
-Euripides

Programmes &
Services
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Training & Employment
Enhancing Employability and Promoting Lifelong Learning
Job security and financial stability have remained critical to an ex-offender’s success at reintegrating
into the community. In line with such observations, ISCOS continues to offer employment assistance
and career guidance to ex-offenders and their families.

SASS

Skills Assistance Subsidy Scheme

All applicants are carefully evaluated based on the job requirements, experience, skills and other relevant criteria, before we arrange for them to be interviewed by potential employers. After successful
placement, ISCOS follows up with the member regularly to ensure a smooth transition into the job.
Members who stay on the job and display positive work attributes will also be rewarded with retention
incentives after a specific period of review.
We also support our members through the Skills Assistance Subsidy Scheme (SASS), a programme
launched in 2010 through the generous support of the Lee Foundation. To help members stay competitive in a rapidly evolving economy, SASS offers training subsidies for courses and certifications
relevant to the members’ career and interests. Since its introduction, SASS has been well received by
members who seek continuing skills upgrading and career enhancement.
In addition, ISCOS also actively reaches out to willing employers and working partners who are willing to offer opportunities to motivated individuals, regardless of their past backgrounds. Companies
offering jobs and courses alike have participated in events such as the ISCOS Mini Job Fair and WSQ
Course Briefings.

“After being in and out of prison so many
times, I told myself it’s enough because I
cannot face my children if I don’t change.
Since I obtained my Class 4 driving
license in September under ISCOS’
SASS, I got promoted to be a Class 4
driver and received a higher income. As
a single father, this helps me greatly in
providing for my three children. I really
hope they can achieve their own dreams
and aspirations.”
Hasri Bin Ya’acob, 42

Job
Placement

Number of
Applications in
2017

Number of
Approvals in
2017

Number of Members
Successfully Emplaced

147

131

141
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Support & Guidance
Supporting and Guiding Towards Successful Reintegration
For an ex-offender, rebuilding their lives is not an easy task and requires much determination and perseverance. As such, Support Groups set up by ISCOS play a vital role in providing positive encouragement and motivation. A safe and secure platform for members is essential to share their experiences
and exchange advice. This gives them a sense of solidarity and the comfort that they are not alone on
their reintegration journey. Besides peer sharing, activities are incorporated into the sessions to better
enhance socio-emotional learning and to encourage deeper engagement among participants.
Extending our reach beyond the ISCOS office, we also partnered with other after-care agencies to
conduct satellite support group sessions for ex-offenders at-large. Thanks to our partners at Ashram
Halfway House, Prisons B1 HU3, New Hope, Pertapis Halfway House and Lloyd Leas Work Release
Camp, the joint effort proved to be successful as we saw greater participation and growth this year.

Men Support Group

Women Support Group

Total
Attendance

Number of
Sessions

Total
Attendance

Number of
Sessions

393

57

33

5

Other than Support Groups, we also help ex-offenders through the Referral and Connect service, which
caters to individuals who are facing numerous social and financial issues that require immediate assistance or intervention. In addition to providing the information and advice at hand, ISCOS connects
the ex-offender with the relevant agencies or organisations that are able to assist the ex-offender
during his or her predicament. This is done through external referral letters or recommendation write
ups. With the correct and timely support, we hope to minimise the ex-offenders’ confusion with navigating unfamiliar services and hence prevent them from falling back to crime.
ISCOS also constantly strives to educate all ex-offenders to new government initiatives, ensuring that
they are kept abreast with any new developments in Singapore. Other value-added services include
the setting up of an email account, as well as drafting or improving job resumes.

Total Number of
Referrals Provided

210

“This is the longest time I’ve been out of prison. While most
people vow to change before they are released, it is an entirely
different story outside because you have to find people who
will support you and not fall back with bad company. I have
my family and the Support Group to thank for this. It is safe
and comfortable as those present will not look down on you.
Everyone shares and encourages each other not to give up –
because you will be the one to lose out if you do.”
Yam Kiah Chee Simon, 60
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Children & Family
Empowering The Next Generation Through Education
and Stable Family Support
Due to parental absence and a lack of proper nurturing, much research has shown that children of
inmates and ex-offenders are more susceptible to falling in with bad company and in some unfortunate
cases, following their parents’ missteps. ISCOS believes that early intervention is necessary through
the Yellow Ribbon Fund-ISCOS Fairy Godparent Programme (FGP). Aimed at preventing intergenerational offending, FGP offers holistic programmes and activities that not only equip beneficiaries
with the hard skills required for their education, but also the soft skills that support them socially and
emotionally.

The Student Development domain focuses on supporting beneficiaries in their academic pursuits
across primary, secondary and tertiary levels. Students who require extra academic help are enrolled
into private tuition classes and matched to suitable mentors to guide them in their learning journeys.
For those who did well in their examinations, the ISCOS Bursary Awards and Book Grants were given
to them as a token of motivation and encouragement. Beneficiaries can now tap to the Tan Ean KiamYellow Ribbon Fund-ISCOS Bursary Award, a generous sponsorship by the Tan Ean Kiam Foundation
to support eligible students who are pursuing their education at local polytechnics and ITEs.

The Programme focuses on three primary domains: Family Support, Student Development and Home
Environment.

For our beneficiaries to excel in studies, having a conducive learning environment at home is equally
important. Under the Home Environment domain, the Learning Environment Assistance Project
(LEAP) continues to help with the set-up of a proper study corner for the children of ex-offenders,
supported by kind volunteers. Parents and caregivers are also given the LEAP Handbook that includes
tips on various practical ways to support students at home.

Family stability is of utmost importance to ensure that the child can realise his or her potential. The
Family Support domain conducts workshops and support groups (including the newly-launched
Fathers’ Support Group) for parents and caregivers to learn about the different aspects of good
parenting skills and how to be a positive influence to their children. Other activities include the ISCOS
Family Day, one of the annual FGP highlights to promote family bonding.

Family Support
Component
Total
Beneficiaries

224

Student Development
Component
Total
Beneficiaries

696

Home Environment
Component
Total
Beneficiaries

25

“I have four children - the eldest being 24
and the youngest only nine. Over the years,
ISCOS’ Fairy Godparent Programme has
helped us a lot, especially with their studies
through sponsored tuition and also the
bursary awards. They always look forward
to the different activities and had very good
mentors too. Thank you ISCOS and sponsors
for all these support!
After receiving help, I’d like my children to
give back too, such as volunteering during
their school holidays. I want them to stand
on their own feet, study well and get a good
life, so that people will not look down on
them. To my husband, my wish is simple - to
stay clean so that we can have a happy and
healthy family.”
Noraisah Bte Idris, 42
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Member Services
Offering Practical Help to ISCOS Members
As the initial point of contact, the Member Services team introduces the member to the various
programmes and services within ISCOS, before recommending the relevant ones to them and their
families to seek support.
Every new ISCOS member receives a Gift-of-Hope (GOH) pack, a relief package to help them tide over
the initial days after release. The package contains $55 worth of basic necessities containing a NETS
FlashPay Card, StarHub mobile prepaid SIM card, grocery vouchers and other items. For existing
members who were re-incarcerated and recently released, they may apply for the Enhanced GOH
packs.
Through the ISCOS SMS service, members obtain latest updates on training and employment
opportunities, bursary awards, tuition grants, family activities and other new programmes and services
in ISCOS, alongside motivational messages and birthday wishes. Attuned to the latest technology, we
also relied on mobile platforms such as WeChat to reach out to members.
The rebranded ISCOS Titans Programme (formerly known as Motivators) continues to recognise
exceptional members who are doing well in society and willing to give back to the community. The
programme works with them to identify volunteer opportunities such as motivational talks, sharing
sessions, support group facilitations and recruitment briefings. By sharing their personal stories of
grit and resolve, and the various struggles faced during challenging times, they are able to reach
out and inspire their audiences. Audiences include at-risk youths, inmates soon to be released, and
members of the public.
During the year, ISCOS launched a new project named Project ReConnect with the objective of easing
the reintegration of members who have recently been released from long-term imprisonment. Please
read more about Project ReConnect on page 22.

New Members
New ISCOS
Members in
2016

Total
Gift-of-Hope Packs
Distributed

Total Enhanced
Gift-of-Hope Packs
Distributed

1061

1073

250

Project ReConnect

ISCOS Titans

Signed up

Attended

419

192

SMS Services
Member Services

(Bi-Monthly Motivational Quotes,
Birthday/Festive Wishes, General
Information)

Existing Pool
of Trained
Titans

Total Number
of New Titans
Trained in 2017

49

11

31,485 SMS
18,340 SMS

29,456 SMS

Children & Family Activities
Training & Employment
Assistance
Support & Guidance Activities
ISCOS SMS Quiz

8,309 SMS

207,779 SMS

Total Number
of SMS Sent in
2017

295,369

“Being an ISCOS Motivator (now known as Titan) reminds me of where I came from, and
gives me a sense of purpose to help those who are struggling as well. ISCOS has organised
sessions on public speaking to build my confidence to share and facilitate better, and this
spurs me on to give talks for other organisations using these speaking skills.”
Murugason S/O Mutthiah, 44
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ISCOS Volunteers
A Friend in Need
is a Friend Indeed
As a co-operative that accepts members from all walks
of life, ISCOS counts the diversity of its volunteers as
its strength. In 2017, 98 active volunteers clocked
an impressive 1,216 hours carrying out a wide range
of volunteering activities. Some volunteers lent
their time and effort in supporting ISCOS events,
becoming support group co-facilitators or mentors to beneficiaries under the
Fairy Godparent Programme, while others rolled up their sleeves to help in house
painting and refurbishing to provide proper study corners for children.
In addition to these existing roles, ISCOS introduced two new volunteering
opportunities this year – the Volunteer Events Team (VET) and the Arts,
Communications and Expertise (ACE) Volunteers. Those signing up for VET will
discover a more hands-on experience working alongside ISCOS team to organise
events for beneficiaries. On the other hand, we are also in constant search for ACE
volunteers who are willing to share their expertise in areas such as photography,
videography, design, creative writing and even emceeing. With such a wide range
of expertise, we can deliver better programmes and services to our members.
As a way to better equip them with the awareness and relevant skills to be an
effective volunteer, every volunteer has to undergo proper orientation and basic
training with ISCOS before each of them embarks on their journey of giving.
To recognise the valuable contribution of our valued supporters, ISCOS held its
Appreciation Dinner on 10 November 2017 to thank our volunteers, sponsors and
working partners. The support of every collaborator, no matter how big or small,
is crucial in ensuring that ISCOS is able to sustain its mission of helping those
who need them most.

Abel Wong Kah Kit
Ameer S/O Md Malik
Amelia Goh Xin Chun
Aran Piers Horton Alexander
Auderia Tan Yan Ying
Benjamin Choi
Bonnita Leman
Chen Sicong
Cheong Khai Meng
Cheryl Tan En Han
Chong Yong Ching Rachel
Clarice Ch’ng
Danielle Sue Quinell
Daryl Lee Chih Hsiung
David Walton Edwards
David Wong Wei Li
Delia Tan
Devanantthan S/O Ragupathi
Edmund Elias Ng Eng Hing
Elaine Lek
Eunice Ling
Faith Hwang Zi Xin
Fitzgerald Hendroff
Gaayathri D/O Chandran
Goh Sze Hee
Grace Khoh Wenqi
Grace Seow Binxin
Hadi Wijaya
Jacqueline Low Lai Har
Jean Butel
Jennifer Wang Jun Qiao
Jessica Dang
Jesslyn Koh J-Ting
Joceline Wong Gee Fong
Katina Danielle Mac Suibhne
Kelly Koh Mui Hoon
Khalisah Binte Ishak
Kok Weng Keong

Kulkarni Makarand
Lee Cai Ling
Lena Joenssan Winter
Lim Shen-nen
Low Eng Siang
Mark Stanley Bell
Natasha Lee Varella
Nicole Leong Yu Qing
Nur Hidayah Bibi Binti Haji Mohamed Omar
Nur Syahirah Binte Abdul Malek
Phua Ler Woon
Prashant Sukumaran
Ramesh Kuravi Srinivasan
Renee Tong
Rennie Whang Yixuan
Ron Yip Peng Chuen
Rokiah Binte Jaafar
Rose Ng Choon Lui
Ruth Toh Yee Hwei
Samantha Choo Tjia Huey
Sharma Neharika
Suresh Shah
Susan Chong Swee Sien
Sydney Yeung Kin Bond
Tabitha Ong Wei Shien
Tarani Premchand Deepchand
Teo Pok Zin
Teng Chu Yu
Thomas Danny Jeyaseelan
Thong Ying Xuan
Tiffany Ann Lai Ke En
Timon Chiong Kai Xiang
Veena Santhanam
Vivien Lee Kwai Peng
Wang Tianyi
Yap San Zhi
Yvonne Guo Yunwen
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Volunteer Feature: Ms Jessica Dang

Employer Feature: Ms Patricia Liu

The Hope and Joy of Giving

THE Business of EmpaTHy

Jessica first came to know about ISCOS when she
worked with the co-operative as a workplace learning
specialist for a special project several years ago. The
stint gave her a unique opportunity of observing firsthand the day-to-day work of the ISCOS team, which
inspired her so much that she decided to take action
and contribute through volunteering, even after participation in her project ended.

As the social enterprise arm of Far East Organization, FEO Grace Pte Ltd (FEO Grace) aims to provide
employment for people from disadvantaged backgrounds. Among the different services they offer, FEO
Grace worked closely with ISCOS to hire and train
ex-offenders to become professional cleaners. They
will form part of the team that oversees the cleanliness of service residences, offices and homes all over
Singapore.

we achieve more than what individuals can accomplish,” Krishnan said with a wide smile on his face, as
always.

When asked about why they are open to offer work
opportunities to people with incarceration records,
FEO Grace’s General Manager Ms Patricia Liu shared,
“Our work is an extension of the core values held
by our parent organisation (Far East Organization),
where we believe in treating people with dignity and
respect, and showing genuine care towards others.
We recognise the importance of working together as
a community, and be more inclusive when it comes to
accepting people who are different from us.”

“As the employer, we need to be sensitive to the needs
of our staff, regardless of their past. It is only with
such sense of empathy and sincerity that we could
achieve the win-win outcome for both the organisation and individuals on the job. Of course, it is equally
important to guide and manage expectations, so that
everyone felt fulfilled and accomplished. To me, it’s
good to partner agencies like ISCOS whom we can
work together to help those in need,” added Patricia.

“From the tireless effort that goes into providing study
bursaries to the children of struggling families, to sitting down with a worried parent to help find a path
forward, to setting up of a conducive study space at a
member’s home for their child, to the non-judgemental welcoming of all who come through ISCOS’ doors you cannot help but be moved by the grace and empathy displayed by these true professionals through any
given day. They are making a real difference - every
single day.”
Unlike the typical volunteer, Jessica chose an unconventional volunteering path. For the past year, Jessica
had used her expertise to develop training curriculum
for ISCOS staff, volunteers and members. As a learning consultant, she believes that it is critical to help
ISCOS put systems into place through the building up
of in-house capabilities, improving the service levels
and nurturing a constant pipeline of dedicated volunteers. Tirelessly working with ISCOS team to run training programmes and develop a comprehensive training framework with tools and e-learning materials,
Jessica found the entire process extremely rewarding.
As a volunteer, Jessica had the opportunity to meet
some of the members and listen to their stories. One
encounter that has stood out for her was a young
member that she interviewed on camera for a training
programme a couple of months ago.
“His was one of those difficult and complicated lives.
So much was working against him – even his own
actions. As we filmed him, he spoke about his life,
his mistakes, his challenges and his regrets. Then
he started to reveal how he gradually overcame his
challenges, leaving behind a life of poor choices and
diminished opportunities – thanks to ISCOS and a
loving family that would not give up on him. We were
all emotionally moved. As I interviewed him I had to
do everything I could to hold back my tears. Tears of
hope, joy and awe at the place this human being has

arrived at now. Here he was, after all the heartache
he brought on himself and his family, a responsible,
sensible, mature person who became dedicated to
helping others through ISCOS. (And now) He is working with the team to build bridges that help others to
navigate over troubled waters. There are no words
to describe the sensation of hope in humanity, and
the affirmation that ISCOS is quietly doing work that
changes lives.”
The sense of fulfilment and hope, in awe of the resilience of human spirit, is what kept Jessica going.
“Time is always a challenge for volunteers. But it
should not hold us back. By helping to create systems, workflows, training, campaigns and so on, each
hour of time spent will keep on generating better
results everyday. I encourage everyone to consider
volunteering. Whatever it is you do - be it digital marketing, finance, teaching, homemaking - wherever it
is you feel you can play a part. Your service is deeply
cherished, and the satisfaction is priceless.”
We thank Jessica, as well as the many like-minded individuals who have contributed selflessly to the work
we do. You have made all the difference for our members and beneficiaries. Thank you for volunteering
with ISCOS!

One of the ISCOS members referred to FEO Grace left
a deep impression on Patricia.
“Krishnan is already in his seventies yet he comes to
work every day with great attitude and positivity. If he
is still willing to work at this age, why shouldn’t he be
given a second chance? I truly hope this job would
help him out of the vicious cycle of re-offending.”
Krishnan S/O Manikan Sounda Rajoo approached
ISCOS in November 2017 after his discharge from
Ashram Halfway House to look for a cleaning job.
After we arranged for the interview with FEO Grace, he
was eventually placed and started working in December 2017. Within the first few weeks of his job, he had
already received many praises from the office staff
and some even bought him presents during Christmas Day.
“You need to know how to be satisfied with what you
have, in order to be happy. The most important attribute in doing a job well is to have good teamwork and
to help each other out. Only by working together can

Now happily into the job for several months, Krishnan’s
fellow colleagues speak well of him, stating that he is
more like a friend than an employee. Krishnan even
recommended a friend who needed help to come
work with him at FEO Grace.

Thank you Patricia and FEO Grace! Given that employment has been, and will always be one of the core
programmes at ISCOS, we look forward to engaging
more willing and understanding employers in the
coming years.
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Member Feature: Mr Sredhar Babu Subin

Resilience in overcoming the odds
A regular attendee for ISCOS Support Group sessions
and an ISCOS Titan, Subin recalls the first motivational talk that he gave to inmates who had been serving
long sentences in prison.

“When I shared about my own life experiences,
some of the inmates were deeply moved by the
sharing. It felt good to be able to do something
for those in the same situation as me.”

Despite what he has been through, Subin’s will to overcome, succeed and excel remains a strong conviction
in pursuing his dreams. He is currently matriculated in
a bachelor’s degree course in Business Management
with International Management in Kaplan (Northumbria University), in a bid to prepare himself for better
career prospects.

“I would not have been able to persevere and
stay the course, if not for the encouragement and
support from my family and friends.” He credits his

The experience was the first of many sharing sessions he has facilitated over the years. Several major
highlights in 2017 included being part of the panel at
the CARE Network Workplan Retreat in front of distinguished guests and the ISCOS Appreciation Dinner,
where he told the story of getting back on his own feet
after his release. In his personal time, Subin also visits
the VOX @ Singapore Children’s Society weekly as a
befriender to youth-at-risk.

wife as his main pillar of support, along with his mother-in-law who believed in him. He also treasures his
good friend Shaik, who kept him focused on achieving
his goals no matter how tough the situations were. By
participating in ISCOS activities, the interactions with
members and ISCOS staff such as Mr Elvis, Nicholas
and Ali gave him the confidence and courage to live
his life with purpose and in turn, reach out to others.

What drives Subin to pass it on stems from his personal life encounters. A hot-tempered youth, he was first
arrested at the age of 19 for rioting. Subsequent instances of disorderly behaviour in his job as a bouncer
then came to a head when he was imprisoned in 2010
for getting into a fight.

“Now, I use my past as a motivation to do my
best for a promising future. I would really like to
thank ISCOS and everyone who has helped me
along this way, for making me believe in myself
and bringing good changes to my life.”

After his release, the fervent support from his wife motivated him to work hard in making a living. Currently
working four jobs as a freelance commercial diver,
stevedore, chauffeur and lorry driver, Subin strives to
better his character by taking small daily steps on improving his attitude, as he believes in it as the main
key towards reforming. For instance, he became more
conscious of his body language and behaviour, and
was more receptive and adaptable to changing situations and different people.
However, his path of reintegration was hardly a
smooth one. Due to the criminal record, Subin faced
difficulties in attaining various clearances and licenses required to carry out his work and these rejections
eventually impeded his career progression. This put
a huge strain on him and the family as he struggled
to cope with the household expenses and his father’s
medical bills.
Refusing to give in to the situation, Subin sought help
from ISCOS and successfully applied to take his Class
4 license under the ISCOS Skills Assistance Subsidy
Scheme (SASS). The extra qualification opened many
doors for him, including opportunities in logistics
across different industries which helped to ease the
financial load of his family.

Staff Feature: Mr Alfred Lau

To Make a Difference in Every Possible Way
Achieving a milestone for five years’ service this year,
Alfred Lau has spearheaded several initiatives including
the setting up of the flagship Fairy Godparent Programme
(FGP) in 2013. As part of a three-person pioneering team,
Alfred worked alongside two passionate colleagues to
conceptualise, build, conduct and fine-tune various new
FGP initiatives, while connecting them into a coherent
framework that seeks to offer holistic support to children
and families of ex-offenders.
“Education opens people up to a whole new world of
opportunities and views. The idea of being able to help
children and youths achieve their full academic potential
despite their circumstances, resonates extremely strongly with me because I believe many children have the capacity to excel or achieve greater things but fail to do so
because they do not have the opportunity or are held back
by various hardships. To me, it is a rewarding experience
to play a key role in structuring the FGP initiatives and to
see these efforts come to fruition and evolve to what the
programme is today.”
Learning from his frequent interaction with beneficiaries
during his initial years at ISCOS, Alfred witnessed first-hand
how things were on the ground. The hands-on approach and
observations contributed valuable insights, which eventually led to good top-down and bottom-up rigour to the FGP
framework. Programmes were then tweaked and improvised so that the help extended to members and beneficiaries were practical and relevant. He also spent much time
in planning and carrying out key events such as the annual
Family Day, Tri-Events and Bursary Awards.
When asked about the most unforgettable moment at
ISCOS, Alfred recounted the time when he was tasked to
present the newly-launched Fairy Godparent Programme
at the Inaugural CARE Network Workplan Seminar in 2013.
The seminar’s audience was composed of about 200 experienced people from the aftercare industry.
“This was exceptionally memorable because the day happened to be the last day of my three-month probation in
ISCOS. There I was, a newbie to the community, addressing
all the senior compatriots in the sector.”
After nearly two years with the Children and Family department, better known as the FGP team, he took on the
challenge of driving the ISCOS Client Management System
(CMS) project, an integrated central repository of client and
beneficiary information to support the daily execution of programmes and services. Backed by his knowledge in IT programming and project management during his polytechnic
and internship years, Alfred was responsible for the creation
and customisation of the CMS, providing support for all its
administration and database management.
Technical abilities aside, Alfred had to take care of other
aspects of the project.

“The CMS was a challenging project as it involved a great
deal of helping internal stakeholders streamline and solidify their workflow processes. It also helped them to
envision how their new workflow would be. Even after
the launch, it continues to be a progressive system that
adapts to regular changes in programme workflows, especially when we introduce new initiatives to help ex-offenders and their children.”
After the special project, Alfred moved on to the Corporate Services department where he formally took on the
mantle of IT and System administrator for office IT infrastructure and the CMS, in addition to the lead in corporate
procurement function.
Currently, Alfred has returned to the Children and Family
team, leading the team to work on the stabilising and expansion of the FGP. His vision for what the programme
will achieve remains the same as his sentiments when it
all first began:
“It is indeed interesting that I had the opportunity to take
on different responsibilities within ISCOS and to have my
FGP experience come full circle. I hope that with all the
opportunities and assistance provided through ISCOS,
the children and youths will find their motivation and
footing to see the world of possibilities that education
brings to them as they advance into adulthood.”

40 | ISCOS Sponsors & Partners

ISCOS Sponsors & Partners
Corporate Donors

566FSE Facilities

Institute of Adult Learning

AAT Training Hub Pte Ltd

Jamiyah Halfway House

Agent Bong

Joy Works

Ang Mo Kio Police Division

JQ Manpower

Arium School of Arts & Sciences

Kee Song Food Corporation (S) Pte Ltd

Singapore National Co-operative
Federation

Ashram Halfway House

Kiids Connect

Singapore Polytechnic

Aym Construction Pte Ltd

Kip McGrath Worldwide Education
Centres (S) Pte Ltd

Singapore Prison Service

Koon Seng Construction Pte Ltd

Social Support Offices (Islandwide)

Lai Soon Fresh Fruit

South East CDC

Logwin Air + Ocean Singapore Pte Ltd

Spic & Span Pte Ltd

M1 Ltd

StarHub Ltd

Marsiling CCC

System Technic Engineering Pte Ltd

Mind Edge Pte Ltd

Tan Chin Tuan Foundation

National Addiction Management Service

Temasek Polytechnic

Nexus Family Resource Centre
New Life Stories

The Helping Hand Landscape Cleaning
Services

Central Police Division

Ngee Ann Polytechnic

The Red Pencil

Central Singapore CDC

NTUC FairPrice

The Singapore Buddhist Lodge
The Straits Times School Pocket Money
Fund

Baker & McKenzie. Wong & Leow
Bcreative Pro
Blessings in a Bag
Bridgestone Tyre Sales Singapore Pte Ltd
Bukit Merah West NPC
CARE Network
CapitaLand
Catholic Welfare Services

Corporate Donors
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Other Partners

Central Narcotics Bureau - Preventive
Education Unit

Singapore Institute of Retail Studies
(SIRS)
Singapore Management University (SMU)
Law Outreach Society

Social Enterprise Association

2G Capital Pte Ltd

Far East Organization

Riskmetrics Singapore Pte Ltd

Aetos Holdings Pte Ltd

Global Energy International Ltd

Seacold Seafoods (S) Pte Ltd

Allen & Gledhill LLP

Golden Development Pte Ltd

SCORE

Baker & McKenzie. Wong & Leow

Haiyi Holdings Pte Ltd

SLS Bearings

Centre for Fathering

NUS Business School

Bank of Singapore Ltd

Hong Seh Trading Pte Ltd

Singapore Technologies Electronics Ltd

City Development Limited

Old Chang Kee Ltd

Best Reward Capital Pte Ltd

Hung Ze International (Singapore) Pte Ltd

Singapore Technologies Kinetics Ltd

Chinese Development Assistance Council

Ossia International Pte Ltd

Certis Cisco Security Pte Ltd

Kimly Construction Pte Ltd

STT Communications Ltd

Chip Eng Seng Corporation Ltd

KTL Offshore Pte Ltd

Paradise Group Holdings Pte Ltd

THK Family Service Centre @Tanjong
Pagar

Clifford Chance Pte Ltd

Luzerne Pte Ltd

Symasia Singapore Fund (on behalf of
Goldbell Foundation)

Clementi Police Division
Coffee Club Pte Ltd

Parkway Pantai

Transfingo Pte Ltd

Comfort Delgro Corporation Ltd

Mellford Pte Ltd

Tan Chin Tuan Foundation

Colliers International

Pertapis Halfway House

Cool Dynamics Pte Ltd

Mitsubishi Electric Asia Pte Ltd

Thye Shan Medical Hall

Compassloft Pte Ltd

PestBusters Pte Ltd

Transnational Supply Chain Logistics Pte
Ltd

Credit Suisse AG

NCS Pte Ltd

Verint Systems (Singapore) Pte Ltd

Domino’s Pizza Singapore Pte Ltd

Public Service Division

DBS Bank Ltd

NTUC FairPrice Foundation

Dunn & Partners

Punggol South Constituency Office

Dyslexia Association of Singapore

Queenstown Community Centre

Embodied Movement, Universe Arts
Centre

RecruitFirst

Individual Donors
Belinda Chan Hian Wun

Kwek Meng Tiam

Ronny Tan Chong Tee

Ben Chng

Lee Kwai Peng

Sammi Lim Yanzi

Celine Teo

Leon Lee Chern Su

Shie Yong Lee

Chng Hwee Hong

Li Wing On

Staphnie Tang Mun Ching

FEO Grace

Daniel Teo Teow Hock

Lim Jit Seng

Stanley Tang

David Wong Cheong Fook

Lim Kah Soo

Steve Ting

Flextronics Manufacturing (S) Pte Ltd

Desmond Wang Tim Chun

Lynette Boey

Soo Eng Hiong

Goh Chen Peng

Manu Bhaskaran

Suriyiacala Jennifer Marie

Great Solutions Pte Ltd

Goh Liang Kwang

Mary Hoe Ai Sien

Tan Koh Young
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Industrial and Services Co-operative Society Limited
Directors’ Statement
For the financial year ended 31 December 2017
In the opinion of the directors,

Independent Auditor’s Report to the members of Industrial and Services Co-operative Society Limited

(a)

the financial statements of the Co-operative are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Co-operative as at 2017 and the financial performance, changes in equity
and cash flows of the Co-operative for the year then ended; and

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Co-operative will be
able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

We have audited the financial statements of Industrial and Services Co-operative Society Limited (the
“Co-operative”), which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2017, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

(b)

On behalf of the Board of Directors,

Teo Teow Hock, Daniel
Chairman
Singapore, 13 April 2018

Mike Hue
Honorary Treasurer

Opinion

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Co-operative Societies Act, Chapter 62 (the “Act”) and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (FRSs) so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Co-operative as at 31 December
2017 and of the financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Co-operative for the year
ended on that date.
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (SSAs). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Co-operative in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority (ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (ACRA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant
to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Other Information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Directors’
Statement set out on page 44.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with the provisions of the Act and FRSs, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal
accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss
from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded
as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability
of assets.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Co-operative’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Co-operative or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Co-operative’s financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the members of Industrial and Services Co-operative Society Limited
(continued)

Independent Auditor’s Report to the members of Industrial and Services Co-operative Society Limited
(continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Co-operative have
been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Co-operative’s internal control.

•

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

•

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Co-operative’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Co-operative to cease to continue as a
going concern.

•

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

KONG, LIM & PARTNERS LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants

Singapore, 13 April 2018
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Industrial and Services Co-operative Society Limited
Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the financial year ended 31 December 2017

Industrial and Services Co-operative Society Limited
Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2017
Note

2017

2016

S$

S$

Note

2017

2016

S$

S$

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

4

866,011

941,673

Available-for-sale investments

5

50,000

6,304,336

916,011

7,246,009

Revenue

13

10,383

11,855

Other income

14

1,914,854

1,590,411

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

4

(92,386)

(90,115)

Staff and related costs

15

(846,738)

(793,707)

(55,663)

(52,800)

(822,655)

(643,080)

(1,817,442)

(1,579,702)

107,795

22,564

Items of expense
Current assets
Held for trading investments

6

8,475,691

-

Trade and other receivables

7

179,292

79,633

9,713

-

1,973,947

3,833,785

10,638,643

3,913,418

Prepayment
Cash and short-term deposits

8

Total assets

11,554,654

11,159,427

Rental on premises
Other expenses

16

Profit before income tax
Income tax expense

17

-

-

Profit before contribution

10

107,795

22,564

Contribution to:
Equity and liabilities

- Central Co-operative Fund

Equity

Profit for the year

Share capital

9

Retained earnings
Fair value reserve

239,491

228,391

10,163,197

10,062,063

-

(183,060)

11

(5,102)

(1,128)

102,693

21,436

183,060

(42,442)

183,060

(42,442)

285,753

(21,006)

Other comprehensive income/(loss):
Net fair value loss on available-for-sale financial assets

Designated Funds:
Common good fund

440,396

440,396

Profit after tax and total comprehensive

Fairy Godparent Fund

191,842

142,987

Gift of Hope Fund

13,167

13,167

Designated Funds:

Training and Employment

95,921

45,613

Donation received

10

123,730

564,268

-

54,279

Disbursement of funds

10

(74,875)

(442,632)

Members’ Services

23,358

43,959

48,855

121,636

Tan Ean Kiam Foundation Fund

83,724

90,000

Restricted Funds:

ST School Pocket Money Fund

25,500

-

Donation received

10

1,401,417

864,275

GoldBell Fund

16,333

92,405

Disbursement of funds

10

(1,320,345)

(823,713)

81,072

40,562

income for the year

Restricted Funds:

Support and Guidance

Children and Family Fund
Total equity

164,051

-

11,456,980

11,030,200

97,674

129,227

11,554,654

11,159,427

Current liabilities
Other payables

12

Total equity and liabilities

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

10,163,197

101,134

239,491

-

-

183,060

183,060

-

-

-

(183,060)

S$

Fair value
reserve

191,842

48,855

-

-

48,855

-

142,987

S$

Balance as at 31
December 2016

Changes in fair
value of availablefor-sale financial
assets

Other
comprehensive
income

Surplus/(deficit)
for the reporting
year (Note 10)

Movements in
funds:

Issuance of shares
to new members
(Note 9)

Balance as at 1
January 2016

10,062,063

21,436

228,391

-

21,436

-

-

-

8,431

10,040,627

S$

S$

219,960

Retained
earnings

Share
capital

(183,060)

(42,442)

(42,442)

-

-

(140,618)

S$

Fair value
reserve

Common
good fund

95,921

50,308

-

-

50,308

-

45,613

S$

Training and
Employment

-

(54,279)

-

1,559

(55,838)

-

54,279

S$

23,358

(20,601)

-

-

(20,601)

-

43,959

S$

Members’
Services

325,392

121,636

-

121,636

-

203,756

13,167

(20,500)

-

(20,500)

-

33,667

S$

Gift of
Hope Fund

45,613

(24,819)

-

(24,819)

-

70,432

S$

Training and
Employment

54,279

34,154

-

34,154

-

20,125

S$

Support
and
Guidance

43,959

51,727

-

51,727

-

(7,768)

S$

Members’
Services

S$

-

-

-

-

-

-

Tan Ean Kiam
Foundation
Fund

Restricted Funds

83,724

(6,276)

-

-

(6,276)

-

90,000

S$

Tan Ean Kiam
Foundation
Fund

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

440,396

-

-

-

-

440,396

S$

Fairy
Godparent
Fund

Designated Funds

S$

13,167

-

-

-

-

-

13,167

S$

Gift of
Hope Fund

Support
and
Guidance

Restricted Funds

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

440,396

-

-

-

-

-

440,396

S$

Common
good fund

Industrial and Services Co-operative Society Limited
Statement of Changes in Equity
For the financial year ended 31 December 2017

Balance as at 31
December 2017

Changes in fair
value of availablefor-sale financial
assets

(1,559)

102,693

-

10,062,063

-

-

Transfer of fund
Other
comprehensive
income

-

11,100

228,391

S$

S$

Surplus/(deficit)
for the reporting
year (Note 10)

Movements in
funds:

Issuance of shares
to new members
(Note 9)

Balance as at 1
January 2017

Retained
earnings

Share
capital

Fairy
Godparent
Fund

Designated Funds

Industrial and Services Co-operative Society Limited
Statement of Changes in Equity
For the financial year ended 31 December 2017

-

-

S$

ST School
Pocket
Money
Fund

-

-

-

-

-

-

25,500

25,500

-

-

25,500

S$

ST School
Pocket
Money
Fund

S$

GoldBell
Fund

-

-

-

-

-

-

16,333

(76,072)

-

-

(76,072)

-

92,405

S$

GoldBell
Fund

-

-

S$

-

-

-

-

-

-

Children
and Family
Fund

164,051

164,051

-

-

164,051

S$

Children
and Family
Fund

11,030,200

141,192

(42,442)

183,634

8,431

10,880,577

S$

Total

11,456,980

415,680

183,060

-

232,620

11,100

11,030,200

S$

Total
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Industrial and Services Co-operative Society Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2017

Industrial and Services Co-operative Society Limited
Statement of Cash Flows
For the financial year ended 31 December 2017

These notes form an integral part and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial
statements.

2017

2016

S$

S$

232,620

183,634

92,386

90,115

Dividend income

(11,481)

(3,657)

Interest income

(214,557)

(397,857)

52,398

60,705

151,366

(67,060)

(99,659)

863,959

(9,713)

200

(31,553)

(291,014)

10,441

506,085

1,325

12,788

11,766

518,873

(16,724)

(44,887)

4,319,680

1,498,000

(6,410,373)

-

213,232

385,069

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before income tax

1.	General
Industrial and Services Co-operative Society Limited (the “Co-operative”) is incorporated and domiciled
in Singapore with its registered office and principal of business at 237 Alexandra Road, #04-19, The
Alexcier, Singapore 159929.

Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

The principal activities of the Co-operative are to provide a channel for gainful employment and selfhelp activities for discharged inmates of penal institutions and drug rehabilitation centres. It also
participates in commercial activities through various business divisions.

Net fair value loss on available-for-sale financial
assets (transferred from equity on disposal
of investments)
Operating cash flow before working capital changes
Changes in working capital:
Trade and other receivables
Prepayment
Other payables
Cash flows generated from operating activities
Interest income received
Net cash flows generated from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of investments
Purchase of investments
Interest income from investments
Dividend received

11,481

3,657

Fixed deposits matured

50,000

700,000

(1,832,704)

2,541,839

11,100

8,431

Net cash flows (used in)/generated from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of share capital
Net cash flows generated from financing activities
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of financial year

11,100

8,431

(1,809,838)

3,069,143

3,783,785

714,642

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of financial year
(Note 8)

1,973,947

3,783,785

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies

2.1 Basis of preparation
The financial statements of the Co-operative have been drawn up in accordance with Singapore
Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”). The financial statements have been prepared on the historical
cost basis except as disclosed in the accounting policies below.
The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars (S$), which is the Co-operative’s functional
currency.
2.2	Adoption of new and revised standards
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except in
the current financial year, the Co-operative has adopted all the new and revised standards which
are relevant to the Co-operative and are effective for annual financial periods beginning on or after
1 January 2017. The adoption of these standards did not have any material effect on the financial
statements.
2.3 Standards issued but not yet effective
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are issued but effective for
annual periods beginning after 1 January 2017, and have not been applied in preparing these financial
statements. The Co-operative does not plan to early adopt these standards.

Description

Effective for annual periods
beginning on or after

FRS 115 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

1 Jan 2018

FRS 109 Financial Instruments

1 Jan 2018

Amendments to FRS 7: Disclosure Initiative

1 Jan 2017

Amendments to FRS 115: Clarifications to FRS 115 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers

1 Jan 2018

FRS 116 Leases

1 Jan 2019

The directors expect that the adoption of the standards above will have no material impact on the
financial statements in the period of initial application.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Industrial and Services Co-operative Society Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2017

Industrial and Services Co-operative Society Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2017

2.

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.4 Foreign currency transactions and balances

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.7 Financial instruments

Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the functional currency of the Co-operative and
are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currency at exchange rates approximating those
ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates
of the initial transactions.
Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at
the end of the reporting period are recognised in profit or loss.
2.5 Property, plant and equipment
All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent to recognition,
property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses. The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its purchase
price and any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary
for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

(a)

Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets are recognised when, and only when, the Co-operative becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the financial instrument. The Co-operative determines the classification
of its financial assets at initial recognition.
When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, directly
attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent measurement
(i)

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market are classified as loans and receivables. Subsequent to initial recognition,
loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit and loss when the loans and
receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate depreciable amounts over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives are as follows:
Years
Property

25

Renovation

5

Computer and equipment

Loans and receivables comprise trade and other receivables and cash and short-term
deposits.

3-5

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.
The useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on de- recognition of the asset is
included in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised.
2.6 Impairment of non-financial assets
The Co-operative assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be
impaired. If any indication exists, or when an annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the
Co-operative makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less
costs of disposal and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does
not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or group of assets.
Where the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the
asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.
A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If
that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increase
cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no
impairment loss been recognised previously. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss.

Loans and receivables

Cash and short-term deposits comprise fixed deposits, cash at banks and on hand.
(ii)

Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are those, which are neither classified as held for trading
nor designated at fair value through profit or loss.
After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently measured at fair
value. Any gains or losses from changes in fair value of the financial assets are recognised
in other comprehensive income, except that impairment losses, foreign exchange gains and
losses on monetary instruments and interest calculated using the effective interest method
are recognised in profit or loss. The cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification
adjustment when the financial asset is de-recognised.
Investments in equity instruments whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are
measured at cost less impairment loss.
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Industrial and Services Co-operative Society Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2017

Industrial and Services Co-operative Society Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2017

2.

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.7 Financial instruments (continued)
(a)

Financial assets (continued)
(iii) Held-for-trading investments
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held-fortrading. Financial liabilities are classified as held-for-trading if they are acquired for the
purpose of selling in the near term. This category includes derivative financial instruments
entered into by the Co-operative that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge
relationships. Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held-for-trading unless
they are designated as effective hedging instruments.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.8 Impairment of financial assets
The Co-operative assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a
financial asset is impaired.
(a)

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Co-operative first assesses whether objective
evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or
collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Co-operative determines
that no objective evidence of impairment exists for individually assessed financial asset,
whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit
risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be recognised are
not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
measured at fair value. Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of the financial
liabilities are recognised in profit or loss.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at amortised
cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account. The impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

De-recognition
A financial asset is de-recognised when the contractual right to receive cash flows from the
asset has expired. On de-recognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that
has been recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss.
(b)

When the asset becomes uncollectible, the carrying amount of impaired financial asset is
reduced directly or if an amount was charged to the allowance account, the amounts charged to
the allowance account are written off against the carrying amount of the financial asset.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets
has been incurred, the Co-operative considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or
significant financial difficulties of the debtor and default or significant delay in payments.

Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the Co-operative becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the financial instrument. The Co-operative determines the classification
of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can
be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset does
not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. The amount of reversal is recognised in profit
or loss.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus directly attributable transaction
costs.
Subsequent measurement
After initial recognition, financial liabilities that are not carried at fair value through profit or loss
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are de-recognised, and through the
amortisation process.
Such financial liabilities comprise other payables.
De-recognition
A financial liability is de-recognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled
or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified,
such an exchange or modification is treated as a de-recognition of the original liability and the
recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised
in profit or loss.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

(b)

Available-for-sale financial assets
In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, objective evidence of impairment
include (i) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor, (ii) information about significant
changes with an adverse effect that have taken place in the technological, market, economic or
legal environment in which the issuer operates, and indicates that the cost of the investment in
equity instrument may not be recovered; and (iii) a significant or prolonged decline in the fair
value of the investment below its costs.
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2.

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.8 Impairment of financial assets (continued)
(b)

Available-for-sale financial assets (continued)
If an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference
between its acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment and amortisation) and its current
fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in profit or loss, is transferred from
other comprehensive income and recognised in profit or loss. Reversals of impairment losses in
respect of equity instruments are not recognised in profit or loss; increase in their fair value after
impairment are recognised directly in other comprehensive income.
In the case of debt instruments classified as available-for-sale, impairment is assessed based on
the same criteria as financial assets carried at amortised cost. However, the amount recorded
for impairment is the cumulative loss measured as the difference between the amortised cost
and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously recognised
in profit or loss. Future interest income continues to be accrued based on the reduced carrying
amount of the asset, using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the
purpose of measuring the impairment loss. The interest income is recorded as part of finance
income. If, in a subsequent year, the fair value of a debt instrument increases and the increases
can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in
profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed in profit or loss.

2.9 Cash and short-term deposits
Cash and short-term deposits comprise fixed deposits, cash at banks and on hand and are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value.
2.10	Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Co-operative and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is made.
Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable, taking into account
contractually defined terms of payment and excluding taxes or duty.
(a)	Membership subscription
Membership subscription is recognised upon receipt of their application form.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.11	Government grants
Government grant shall be recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which
the entity recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Grants related to income may be presented as a credit in profit or loss, either separately or under a
general heading such as “Other income”. Alternatively, they are deducted in reporting that related
expenses.
2.12 Employee benefits
Defined contribution plans
The Co-operative makes contributions to the Central Provident Fund scheme in Singapore, a defined
contribution pension scheme. Contributions to defined contribution pension schemes are recognised
as an expense in the period in which the related service is performed.
2.13 Operating lease
As lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. The aggregate benefit of incentives provided by the lessor is recognised as a reduction
of rental expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis.
2.14 Taxes
Income tax
The Co-operative is registered under the Co-operative Societies Act, Chapter 62 and under the Income
Tax Act, Section 13(1)(f). No provision for taxation has been made in the financial statements as the
Co-operative is a registered co-operative society with income tax exemption.
Sales tax
Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax except:

•

Where the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the
taxation authority, in which case the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of
the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and

•

Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included.

(b)	Rendering of services
Revenue from rendering of services is recognised when the services have been performed and
rendered.
(c)	Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the Co-operative’s right to receive payment is established.
(d)

Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using the effective interest method.

The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part
of receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.
2.15 Share capital
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares are recognised as share capital in equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issuance of ordinary shares are deducted against share capital.
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3.

4.

Significant accounting judgments and estimates

Property, plant and equipment

The preparation of the Co-operative’s financial statements requires management to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the end of each reporting period. Uncertainty
about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment
to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in the future periods.
3.1 Judgments made in applying accounting policies
The management is of the opinion that there are no significant judgments made in applying accounting
estimates and policies that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year
3.2 Key sources of estimation of uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period are discussed below. The Co-operative based its assumptions and estimates
on parameters available when the financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances
and assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to market changes or
circumstances arising beyond the control of the Co-operative. Such changes are reflected in the
assumptions when they occur.
(a)	Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
The useful life of an item of property, plant and equipment is estimated at the time the asset
is acquired and is based on historical experience with similar assets and takes into account
anticipated technological or other changes. If changes occur more rapidly than anticipated or the
asset experiences unexpected level of wear and tear, the useful life will be adjusted accordingly.
The carrying amount of the Co-operative’s property, plant and equipment as at 31 December
2017 was S$866,011 (2016: S$941,673).
(b)

Impairment of loans and receivables
The impairment of trade and other receivables is based on the ageing analysis and management’s
continuous evaluation of the recoverability of the outstanding receivables. In assessing the
ultimate realisation of these receivables, management considers, among other factors, the
creditworthiness and the past collection history of each customer. If the financial conditions
of these customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make
payments, additional allowances may be required. The carrying amounts of the Co-operative’s
trade and other receivables as at 31 December 2017 were S$179,292 (2016: S$79,633).

Computer
and
Property

Renovation

equipment

Total

S$

S$

S$

S$

Cost
At 1 January 2016
Additions
At 31 December 2016
Additions
At 31 December 2017

1,125,280

102,482

174,178

1,401,940

-

-

44,887

44,887

1,125,280

102,482

219,065

1,446,827

-

-

16,724

16,724

1,125,280

102,482

235,789

1,463,551

225,055

89,328

100,656

415,039

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2016
Depreciation

45,011

3,888

41,216

90,115

270,066

93,216

141,872

505,154

45,012

3,888

43,486

92,386

315,078

97,104

185,358

597,540

At 31 December 2016

855,214

9,266

77,193

941,673

At 31 December 2017

810,202

5,378

50,431

866,011

At 31 December 2016
Depreciation
At 31 December 2017
Carrying amount

5.	Available-for-sale investments
2017

2016

S$

S$

Unquoted shares in a Co-operative, at cost
Other bonds and other securities, at fair value

Available-for-sale investments are denominated in Singapore Dollars.

50,000

50,000

-

6,254,336

50,000

6,304,336
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6.	Held for trading investments

7.
2017

2016

S$

S$

Trade and other receivables (continued)
Trade and other receivables are denominated in Singapore Dollars.
Receivables that were past due but not impaired

Fixed income securities

4,719,797

-

Equities securities

3,755,894

-

8,475,691

-

The Co-operative had trade receivables amounting to S$688 (2016: S$2,713) that were past due at the
reporting date but not impaired. These receivables were unsecured and the analysis of their aging at
the reporting date was as follows:

The financial assets that are externally managed comprised funds placed with the professional fund
manager pursuant to investment management agreements. Pursuant to the terms, the agreements
can be terminated by giving the requisite prior notice in writing to the fund manager.

2017

2016

S$

S$

Trade receivables past due but not impaired:

The fund manager is given discretionary powers within certain guidelines to invest the funds and
these financial assets are managed on a portfolio basis and their performance evaluated on a fair
value basis.

Lesser than 30 days

-

-

31 to 60 days

-

1,125

61 to 90 days

-

450

688

1,138

688

2,713

More than 90 days

Held for trading investments are denominated in the following currencies:

7.

2017

2016

S$

S$

Receivables that were past due and impaired
There were no trade receivables that were past due and impaired.

Singapore Dollars

6,982,646

-

United States Dollars

1,493,045

-

8,475,691

-

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables - third parties

Cash and short-term deposits
2017

2016

S$

S$

Fixed deposits
2017

2016

S$

S$
688

2,713

11,200

11,200

Grant receivables

124,250

50

Other receivables

43,154

65,670

179,292

79,633

Deposits

8.

-

50,000

Cash on hand

1,174

940

Cash at banks

1,972,773

3,782,845

Cash and short-term deposits

1,973,947

3,833,785

-

(50,000)

1,973,947

3,783,785

Fixed deposits more than 3 months
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank amounting to S$187,367 (2016: S$316,881) earns interest at floating rated based on
daily bank deposit rate.
Cash and short-term deposits are denominated in the following currencies:

Trade receivables are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 days terms (2016: 30
days).
There is no other class of financial assets that is past due and/or impaired except for trade receivables.

2017

2016

S$

S$

Singapore Dollars

1,896,120

3,833,782

Australian Dollars

3

3

United States Dollars

77,824

-

1,973,947

3,833,785

-

878,318

Operating expenses

Profit for the year

- Central Co-operative
Fund

Contribution to:

Surplus/(deficit) for
the year

Depreciation of
property, plant and
equipment

102,693

5,102

107,795

-

-

-

-

92,386

-

-

-

-

1,817,442

-

846,738

Manpower costs

Marketing and
communication

-

-

1,912,150

-

-

-

-

1,925,237

Direct expenses

Resources expended

Other income

10,383

Co-payment of course
fees
Membership fee

-

2,704
Government grants

Donation income

Incoming resources

2017

48,855

-

48,855

74,875

-

-

-

-

74,875

123,730

-

-

-

-

123,730

S$

S$

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

50,308

-

50,308

376,911

19,757

8,312

47,974

175,413

125,455

427,219

-

-

27,739

4,086

395,394

S$

(55,838)

-

(55,838)

226,579

13,172

5,544

33,219

164,674

9,970

170,741

-

-

-

2,789

167,952

S$

(20,601)

-

(20,601)

206,848

13,173

6,848

22,126

89,344

75,357

186,247

-

-

-

1,776

184,471

S$

“Every member shall pay the following dues on becoming a member of the Society:
(a) entrance fee of $10.00 (Dollars Ten); and
(b) payment for purchase of at least 10 shares subject to By-law 9.3.2.”

S$

S$

(6,276)

-

(6,276)

16,276

-

-

-

-

16,276

10,000

-

-

-

-

10,000

By-law 4.5 of the Co-operative states that:
25,500

-

25,500

10,055

-

-

-

-

10,055

35,555

-

-

-

-

35,555

S$

ST School
Pocket
Money Fund

-

-

-

-

-

-

(76,072)

-

(76,072)

76,072

-

-

34,683

17,937

23,452

S$

GoldBell
Fund

228,391

Tan Ean Kiam
Foundation Fund

239,491

Members’
Services

8,431

Support and
Guidance

11,100

Training and
Employment

219,960

Gift of
Hope
Fund

228,391

Fairy Godparent
Fund

164,051

-

164,051

407,604

19,757

12,882

30,259

211,407

133,299

571,655

-

-

-

5,389

566,266

S$

Children
and Family
Fund

S$

Common
good fund

232,620

5,102

237,722

3,212,662

158,245

33,586

1,046,579

1,505,513

468,739

3,450,384

1,912,150

10,383

27,739

14,040

1,486,072

S$

Total

Share capital

General Fund

Ending balance
S$

Restricted Funds

Addition
2016

Designated Funds

Beginning balance
2017

10. Fund account transactions

9.
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1,128

183,634

184,762

154,093

2,846,047

22,988

818,129

495,081

1,355,756

3,030,809

11,855

1,590,411

23,417

274,133

1,130,993

S$

Total

Industrial and Services Co-operative Society Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2017
10. Fund account transactions (continued)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

The fund shall be used for the benefit of the members of the Co-operative and may, with the approval
of the Registrar, be devoted to any educational, medical, social or charitable purposes. The common
good fund shall be derived from an annual contribution, not exceeding 10% of the net surplus of the
Co-operative, subject to the approval at the general meeting. It is not available for dividends.

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

51,727

51,727

12,996

132,654

4,598

24,772

79,820

10,468

-

-

-

3,696

184,381

S$

180,685

S$

S$

-

S$

Restricted Funds
These funds are set up with their objectives as follows:
(a) To provide support to ex-offenders and ex-offenders’ families, especially their children (usually
the secondary victims of crime);
(b) Welcoming back ex-offenders into the society by presenting a “goodie bag” through “Gift of
Hope” initiative; and
(c) In support of programs to help ex-offenders and their children.
Pursuant to Section 71 of the Co-operative Society Act, Cap. 62, every society shall contribute 5% of
the first S$500,000 of the surplus resulting from operations of the society to the Central Co-operative
Fund and 20% of any surplus in excess of S$500,000 from the operations of the society either to the
Central Co-operative Fund or to the Singapore Labour Foundation as the society may opt.
11. Fair value reserve

-

34,154
(24,819)

-

12. Other payables
2017

2016

S$

S$

Other payables

21,883

85,354

Accrued expenses

75,791

43,873

97,674

129,227

(20,500)

34,154
(24,819)
(20,500)

12,996

142,382
477,677

18,492
-

71,000

4,598
6,896
-

24,375
37,623
-

4,835

95,578
185,308

229,358
71,000

-

176,536
452,858

-

-

-

-

23,417
-

4,456
256,510
-

50,500

S$

50,500

S$

172,931

S$

172,080

Fair value reserve represents the cumulative fair value changes, net of tax, of available-for-sale
financial assets until they are disposed of or impaired.

121,636

-

13.	Revenue

-

121,636
-

442,632

19,494
-

-

6,896
-

35,479
-

201,343

179,420
-

-

564,268
-

-

-

-

9,471

-

-

Other payables are denominated in Singapore Dollars.

S$

-

554,797

Other payables have an average term of 6 months (2016: 6 months).

S$

Tan Ean Kiam
Foundation Fund
Members’
Services
Training and
Employment
Gift of
Hope
Fund
Fairy Godparent
Fund
Common
good fund

21,436

1,128
- Central Co-operative
Fund

Profit for the year

22,564
Contribution to:

Surplus/(deficit) for
the year

1,579,702

-

90,115
Depreciation of
property, plant and
equipment

695,880
Operating expenses

Marketing and
communication

-

793,707

Direct expenses

Manpower costs

1,602,266
Resources expended

1,590,411

11,855
Membership fee

Other income

-

Co-payment of course
fees

Government grants

Incoming resources

2016

Donation income

-

Membership fees
General Fund

Designated Funds

10. Fund account transactions (continued)
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Support and
Guidance

Restricted Funds

ST School
Pocket
Money Fund

GoldBell
Fund

-

S$

Children
and Family
Fund

-

Designated Fund

Rendering of services

2017

2016

S$

S$

10,383

7,869

-

3,986

10,383

11,855
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14. Other income

16. Other expenses

The following items have been included in arriving at other income:

The following items have been included in arriving at other expenses:
2017

2016

2017

2016

S$

S$

S$

S$

Dividend income from unquoted equities

11,481

3,657

Government grant

38,955

224,046

Interest income from banks

1,325

12,788

Interest income from bonds

213,232

385,069

Net fair value gains on investments

274,012

-

1,361,241

964,851

Program sponsorship

15. Staff and related costs
2017

2016

S$

S$

Key management personnel
Salaries

88,065

19,679

CPF

14,604

3,346

102,669

23,025

Course fees
General expenses

78,361

72,817

103,687

55,190

37,007

13,962

52,398

60,705

Net fair value loss on available-for-sale financial
assets (transferred from equity on disposal
of investments)
Repair and maintenance

20,062

12,283

Telephone charges

12,550

10,788

Transportation

11,790

12,012

Tuition expenses

54,590

38,336

6,395

7,091

Utilities
17. Income tax expense

The Co-operative is registered under the Co-operative Societies Act. Under Section 13(1)(f) of the
Income Tax Act; the income of any co-operative registered under the Co-operative Societies Act is
exempted from tax.
18.	Disbursement of funds

Staff
Salaries, allowances and bonuses

608,185

631,679

CPF, FWL and SDL

101,716

103,957

Medical fee

4,668

2,194

Staff welfare

28,373

31,592

1,127

1,260

744,069

770,682

846,738

793,707

Others

Bursary award expenses

This represents funding under Common Good Fund, Fairy Godparent Fund, Training and Employment,
Support and Guidance, Member Services, Tan Ean Kiam Foundation Fund, Goldbell Fund and Children
and Family Fund.
19. Significant related party transactions
There have been no transactions with related parties during the year.
Compensation of key management personnel
There is no other key management personnel in the Co-operative other than the director. The director’s
remuneration is disclosed in Note 15.
The Co-operative did not provide remuneration to the Board members and no staff are remunerated
more that S$100,000 in annual remuneration.
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20. Operating lease commitments

21. Financial risk management (continued)

Where the Co-operative is a lessee

Credit risk (continued)

The Co-operative leases premise and copier under non-cancellable operating lease agreements.

Excessive risk concentration

The future minimum rental payable under non-cancellable operating leases contracted for at the
reporting date but not recognised as assets, are as follows:

Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or
activities in the same geographical region, or have economic features that would cause their ability
to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other
conditions. Concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity of the Co-operative’s performance to
developments affecting a particular industry.

2017

2016

S$

S$

Exposure to credit risk
Within one year
Later than one year but within five years

31,200

4,800

6,400

11,200

37,600

16,000

Minimum lease payments recognised as an expense in profit or loss for the financial year ended 31
December 2017 amounted to S$60,721 (2016: S$57,600).
21. Financial risk management
The Co-operative’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks from its operation. The key financial
risks include credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk (including interest rate risk).
The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies and procedures for the management of these
risks, which are executed by the management team. It is, and has been throughout the current and
previous financial year, the Co-operative’s policy that no trading in derivatives for speculative purposes
shall be undertaken.

The Co-operative has no significant concentration of credit risk. The Co-operative has credit policies
and procedures in place to minimise and mitigate its credit risk exposure.
Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired
Trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are with creditworthy debtors with
good payment record with the Co-operative. Cash and short-term deposits are placed with or entered
into with reputable financial institutions or banks with high credit ratings and no history of default.
Financial assets that are either past due or impaired
Information regarding financial assets that are either past due or impaired is disclosed in Note 7.
Liquidity risk

There has been no change to the Co-operative’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in
which it manages and measures the risks.

Liquidity risk refers to the risk that the Co-operative will encounter difficulties in meeting its shortterm obligations due to shortage of funds. The Co-operative’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily
from mismatches of the maturities of financial assets and liabilities. It is managed by matching the
payment and receipt cycles. The Co-operative’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity
of funding and flexibility through the use of stand-by credit facilities. The Co-operative’s operations
are financed mainly through equity. The directors are satisfied that funds are available to finance the
operations of the Co-operative.

Credit risk

Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting
in a loss to the Co-operative. The Co-operative has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy
counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the
risk of financial loss from defaults. The Co-operative performs ongoing credit evaluation of its
counterparties’ financial condition and generally do not require a collateral.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Co-operative’s financial assets and liabilities at
the reporting date based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations.

The following sections provide details regarding the Co-operative’s exposure to the above- mentioned
financial risks and the objectives, policies and processes for the management of these risks.

The maximum exposure to credit risk in the event that the counterparties fail to perform their
obligations as at the end of the financial year in relation to each class of recognised financial assets
is the carrying amount of those assets as stated in the statement of financial position.
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21. Financial risk management (continued)

21. Financial risk management (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Market risk

Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities (continued)

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange
rates will affect the Co-operative’s income. The objective of market risk management is to manage
and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk.

Carrying amount

Contractual cash
flows

One year or less

S$

S$

S$

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Co-operative’s financial
instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Co-operative’s exposure to
interest rate risk arises primarily from investment in bonds classified as held for trading.

2017
Financial assets:
Available-for-sale investments
Held for trading investments
Trade and other receivables

50,000

50,000

50,000

8,475,691

8,475,691

8,475,691

179,292

179,292

179,292

Cash and short-term
deposits

22. Fair values
1,973,947

1,973,953

1,973,953

10,678,930

10,678,936

10,678,936

97,674

97,674

97,674

Total undiscounted
financial assets
Financial liabilities:
Other payables
Total undiscounted
financial liabilities

97,674

97,674

97,674

10,581,256

10,581,262

10,581,262

2016

Trade and other receivables

6,304,336

6,304,336

6,304,336

79,633

79,633

79,633

3,833,785

3,834,336

3,834,336

10,217,754

10,218,305

10,218,305

129,227

129,227

129,227

129,227

129,227

129,227

10,088,527

10,089,078

10,089,078

Cash and short-term
deposits
Total undiscounted
financial assets
Financial liabilities:
Other payables
Total undiscounted
financial liabilities
Net undiscounted
financial assets

Fair value of financial instruments by classes that are not carried out at fair value and whose carrying
amounts are reasonable approximation of fair value

The carrying amounts of these balances approximate their fair values due to the short-term nature of
these balances.
Trade receivables
The carrying amounts of these receivables approximate their fair values as they are subject to normal
trade credit terms.

Financial assets:
Available-for-sale investments

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged or
settled between knowledgeable and willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

Cash and short-term deposits, other receivables and other payables

Net undiscounted
financial assets

The Co-operative does not expect any significant effect on the Co-operative’s profit or loss arising from
the effects of reasonably possible changes to interest rates on interest bearing financial instruments
at the end of the financial year.
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22. Fair values (continued)

23. Financial instruments by category

Fair value of financial instruments that are carried at fair value
The following table shows an analysis of financial instruments carried at fair value by level of fair value
hierarchy:
Quoted prices in
active markets
for identical
instruments

Significant other
observable
inputs

Significant
unobservable
inputs

(Level 1)

(Level 2)

(Level 3)

Total

S$

S$

S$

S$

At the reporting date, the aggregate carrying amounts of loans and receivables and financial liabilities
at amortised cost were as follows:
2016

S$

S$

Loans and receivables
Trade and other receivables (Note 7)
Cash and short-term deposits (Note 8)

2017
Financial assets:

179,292

79,633

1,973,947

3,833,785

2,153,239

3,913,418

97,674

129,227

97,674

129,227

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Available-for-sale

Other payables (Note 12)

investments (Note 5)
- Unquoted shares

2017

-

-

50,000

50,000

8,475,691

-

8,475,691

-

8,475,691

50,000

8,525,691

- Quoted bonds

-

6,254,336

-

6,254,336

- Unquoted shares

-

-

50,000

50,000

-

6,254,336

50,000

6,304,336

Held for trading
investments (Note 6)
2016
Financial assets:
Available-for-sale
investments (Note 5)

Fair value hierarchy
The Co-operative categorises fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that is dependent
on the valuation inputs used as follows:

•

Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the
Co-operative can access at the measurement date,

•

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly, and

•

Level 3 – Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Fair value measurements that use inputs of different hierarchy levels are categorised in its entirety
in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire
measurement.
Fair value of financial instrument by classes that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying
amounts are not reasonable approximation of fair value
Fair value information has not been disclosed for the Co-operative’s investments in equity instruments
amounted to S$50,000 that are carried at cost because the fair value cannot be measured reliably. The
Co-operative does not intend to dispose of this investment in the foreseeable future.

24. Capital management
The primary objective of the Co-operative’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong
credit rating and healthy capital ratios in order to support its operation. The Co-operative manages its
capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain
or adjust the capital structure, the Co-operative may adjust the return capital to members or issue new
shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the financial year ended
31 December 2017.
The Co-operative is not subjected to either internal or external imposed capital requirements.
25. Fund management policy
The primary objective of the Fund is to ensure it maintains sufficient cash in order to support its
activities. Its approach to fund management is to balance the allocation of cash and incurrence of
debt. Available cash is deployed primarily to cover operational requirements.
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26. Comparative figures
Change in classification
During 2016, the Company modified the classification of staff and related cost to reflect more
appropriately for current year presentation. Comparative amounts in the statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income were restated for consistency. As a result, $15,756 was reclassified
from other expenses to staff and related costs.
Since the amounts are reclassifications within the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, this reclassification did not have any effect on the statements of financial position and cash
flows.
Before

After

reclassification

Reclassification

reclassification

2016

made

2016

S$

S$

S$

Statement of Comprehensive Income
Staff and related costs

(777,951)

(15,756)

(793,707)

Other expenses

(659,964)

15,756

(644,208)

27. Authorisation of financial statements for issue
The financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2017 were authorised for issue by
the Board of Directors on the date of the Directors’ Statement.

